IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HAROLD GREEN

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2008-CC-01618

CLEARY WATER, SEWER AND FIRE DISTRICT

DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY CASE NO. 57,085

BRIEF OF APPELLANT HAROLD GREEN

APPELLANT HAROLD GREEN 558 MULLICAN RD. FLORENCE, MS 39073 601-845-6378

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 12, 2004, the petitioner Harold Green filed a formal complaint with the Public Service Commission petitioning the commission to vacate it's order granting Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity. The stated reason for this action, was and is, that false statements were made to obtain this certificate. This is an appeal from the decision rendered by the Chancery Court of Rankin County Mississippi. Case No. 57,085.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (Q1) Did "Cleary make false statements to obtain a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity from the Pubic Service Commission?"
- (Q2) Did the "Public Utilities Staff know "Cleary" could not and was not going to "construct, operate and maintain a sewage treatment plant in this new area?"
- (Q3) Did the "Public Utilities Staff" require "Cleary" to furnish mandatory documentation proving their eligibility to receive a certificate?
- (Q4) Does the "Public Utilities Staff" have the statutory authority to use their discretion in determining the eligibility of "Cleary" to obtain a certificate?"
- (Q5) Did "Cleary" state, on oath, this "Centralized Sewage Treatment Plant" would be constructed "upon approval and authorization from the "Public Service Commission?"
- (Q6) Did "Cleary" and the "Public Utilities Staff" make false statements to the "Public Service Commission" for "Cleary" to obtain a certificate?
- (Q7) What was the "Public Service Commission" required to comply with on becoming aware that the "Public Utilities Staff" had not required "Cleary" to furnish all fifteen (15) mandatory items found in "Appendix (A) Schedule (2)" to be eligible for a certificate?

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (Q8) Did the "Public Service Commission", upon recommendation from the Public Utilities Staff, issue "Cleary" a certificate to "construct, operate and maintain a "Sewer System" in the additional area?"
- (Q9) Has "Cleary" constructed this "Sewer System?"
- (Q10) Is the certificate issued to "Cleary" by the "Public Service Commission" specific and unambiguous in it's construction and meaning?
- (Q11) Why has the "Public Service Commission" failed to comply with mandatory laws governing certificate proceeding?
- (Q12) What reason does "Cleary" give for applying to the "Public Service Commission" for a certificate to construct, operate and maintain a "Sewer System"?
- (Q13) Are the reasons given in the above question sufficient to warrant the action taken by the "Public Service Commission?"
- (Q14) How has "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District" been able to act with impunity throughout these proceedings? (B) Why did the "Public Service Commission" deny the petitioners the right to amend their complaint and then dismiss the complaint?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

"Cleary" knew before applying for a certificate (A) they did not have the finances nor credit rating to borrow money to "construct, operate and maintain a Sewer System" in the water and fire area of the District. (B) Therefore, "Cleary was not going to construct this new Sewage Treatment Plant so as to furnish "sewer service" to the customers. Most of the exhibits listed here can be found in our brief of Feb. 4, 2008. Some may be a direct quote without an exhibit number.

(A1) "Cleary's application:" "Application of Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District to enlarge it's certificated area for sewer service to make said area "identical" to its certificated area for water and fire protection." (Exhibit - D1-2-3) This area for sewer service "Cleary" is applying to be "identical" with is a centralized sewage treatment and disposal plant constructed in 1980 for the "Private Community of Cleary Heights."

Cleary furnishes sewer service to these customers. The documentation in (Exhibits - M15-M8) also (Exhibit - Info) clearly show, one (1) year before their application for a certificate, "Cleary" could not and was not going to construct a Sewage Treatment Plant so as to furnish "sewer service" to this new area, making this documented evidence a false statement to obtain the certificate they now possess. Throughout all of these proceedings their stance has been the same, with impunity.

(A2) Item (5) of application (Exhibit - D2) states "The financial reports of "Cleary" are on file with the Commission." We have not found these reports in the records presented.

However, we have found the financial report for the year 2000, sent to the Board of Supervisors that was subsequently published in the Rankin County News dated Jan. 18, 2001. It shows expenditures exceed revenue by \$55,167.00 for the year 2000. This trend continued from 2002 thru 2006 for a total of \$220,122.00. We have no report since 2006. "Cleary" also states in item (5) "the expansion of the sewer service area will not jeopardize the financial well being of "Cleary". This makes two (2) false statements in item (5). (Exhibits - D2-M13-14). From these and (Exhibit - M12-pages 2-3) we get a clear picture that the "Public Utilities Staff knew "Cleary" could not and was not going to construct a new Sewage Treatment Plant, as promised and required by law. The "Public Utilities Staff duties "as described in (Rule 3) of Practice and Procedure" stated in part, "The primary function of the M.P.U.S is investigative and advisory in nature."

- (A3) The "Public Utilities Staff did not require "Cleary" to comply with the following mandatory items found in "Appendix (A) Schedule (2) of the Certificate Proceedings; Items (6-7-8-9-10-11-13-14-15) (Exhibit Q14). "Cleary did not comply with "Rule 2 K (Exhibit Q2) as stated in their application (Exhibit D-2-Item-6). "Rule 2K" stated in part "Any person having a substantial interest in the subject matter of the proceeding or whose rights and liabilities may be materially affected thereby." See (Exhibit R7) (SS Ordinance)
- (A) We the property owners would have to connect to this proposed sewage treatment plant. We hereby have a substantial interest in the subject matter.
- (B) Our rights to object to "Cleary's" application for a certificate to construct, operate and maintain a sewer system in our area has been purposely denied to us not being listed

as interested persons.

(C) We would be liable for material and labor cost to connect to this proposed centralized sewer system. These and other requirements are listed in "Cleary's" Sanitary Sewer Use Ordinance." (Exhibit - R7) E.P.A. estimated cost totals \$17,000 (Exhibit - M8) for each household. We would be forced by this ordinance to give these items we paid for plus the land they are on to "Cleary" who would then charge a monthly fee to be determined by "Cleary" now owns property on our property. We cannot sell or alter our property without "Cleary's" approval. Yes, we are truly the only persons that meet all three requirements to be listed as interested persons, though we have been denied that right, as defined by (Rule 2K) (Exhibit - Q2) and (Appendix A) (Schedule 2) (Item 13) (Exhibit - Q14).

(A4)The "Public Utilities Staff" does not have discretion in this matter. Under Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rule 3) reads in part "MPUS Duties." The primary function of the MPUS is investigative and advisory in nature. The staff of MPUS shall perform such duties as are assigned to them by the "Executive Director." The "Public Utilities Staff" duties are to examine all applications to verify that mandatory documents are included before making their recommendation of approval or disapproval to the "Public Service Commission." The "Public Utilities Staff did not require "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District" to include in their application the following mandatory items (6-7-8-9-10-11-13-14-15) listed in (Exhibit - Q14).

- (A5) In "Cleary's application for a certificate (Exhibit D2-Item 8) states, "The Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District is agreeable to operating a water, sewer and fire utility system to serve the residents of the entire area, upon approval and authorization from the commission." This is a false statement made by "Cleary". (Exhibits M8-M13-M14)
- (A6) The "Public Utilities Staff" made a false statement to the "Public Service Commission" by approving "Cleary's" application and recommending the commission issue Cleary a certificate (Exhibit F1-2-3-4) without "Cleary supplying the mandatory documents necessary to be eligible for a certificate, (Exhibit Q14), thereby making a false statement by each party.
- (A7) Incomplete Filings: "Petitioners for a certificate that fail to comply with the requirements of these rules or that do not have attached to them the supporting data will be docketed and assigned an identifying number, but the commission may decline to consider said petitioner or dismiss it, Sua Sponte, until compliance is achieved." The "Public Service Commission" has discretion only to "decline to consider said petition or dismiss it." The rest of this rule is mandatory. The P.S.C. has not complied with any part of this section (Rule 7 F6).
- (A8) On September 18, 2000, the "Public Service Commission" issued "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District" a "Supplemental Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity." This certificate reads in part, "It is, therefore, ordered that: The request of

Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District for a Supplemental Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to serve an additional area, is hereby granted and approved so as to authorize and permit it to construct, operate and maintain a sewer system in the additional area hereinafter described."(Exhibit - F1-2-3-4).

(A9) "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District" has not constructed a "Centralized Sewer System" as applied for in their petition to the "Public Service Commission". "Cleary" stated upon oath that they would furnish "Sewer Service" to the residents of this new area. "Cleary" knew one (1) year before application, this Sewer Service was not going to be available to these residents. (Exhibits - D1-2-3) (Exhibits - M8-13-14). These are more false statements made by "Cleary" to obtain a certificate.

(A10) Absolutely: "Specific: in that the "certificate" states no less than five (5) times these words, "Construct, operate and maintain a sewer system." The words "Sewer Service" is stated four (4) times. The words "Sewer System" and "Sewer Services" are synonymous. The words and meaning thereof in the construction of this "certificate" are "specific" and are "unambiguous". (Exhibit - F1-2-3-4)

(A11) The following document can be found in "Appeal Record Volume I" page 000109 and 000110. Attorneys of Record include Wm. Bruce McKinley, Esquire Attorney for the P.S.C. and James A. Bobo, Esquire Attorney for CWSFD. The record reads in part, "Be it remembered that "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire filed its application, along with the "required exhibits" and documentation, on June 13, 2000." This is a false statement.

Both attorneys knew "Cleary" did not supply the required exhibits and documentation to be eligible for a certificate. One of ten (10) required items is (Rule 2K). "Cleary" did not list any of its water only customers as "Interested Persons" as required by that rule. As such, we would have been "served a notice of the filing upon each," and we were not served this notice. In so doing, the "Public Service Commission" has denied the water only customers our "Civil Rights" by way of preventing a hearing whereby we could file a complaint objecting to the "Public Service Commission" issuing "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District a certificate to "construct operate and maintain a sewage system in this new area." All three (3) of the involved agencies knew "Cleary" could not and was not going to construct this new treatment plant. As stated, this is only one of many false statements made by "Cleary" and accepted by the "Public Utilities Staff" and the "Public Service Commission".

To get a clear picture of the difference between the required documentation in "Certificate Proceeding" (Exhibit - Q2 and Q14) and the documentation presented by "Cleary" in its application (Exhibit - D1-2-3), compare these two (2) exhibits. We freely understand our position and responsibilities as set forth in this quote, "A rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the action of an administrative agency, and the burden of proof is on the party challenging an agencies action." We respectfully submit the following. As the challenging party we believe we have shown in this and other documents evidence that proves "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District," the "PUS: and the "Public Service Commission" did in fact make many false statements to obtain this certificate, as alleged in our complaint (Exhibit - M4), and that the "Public Service Commission" has failed to comply with the mandatory laws governing the issuing of a

certificate. Here are two (2) of these laws.

- 1. "Petitioners" Petitions to enlarge, diminish or alter the boundaries of a certificate area shall be granted upon good cause shown and shall contain or be accompanied by the data and documentation shown in "Schedule 2" of "Appendix A". We cannot find in the records proof that "Cleary" complied with any more than six (6) of the required fifteen (15) to be eligible for a certificate. (Exhibit Q14). On becoming aware of this short fall of nine (9) items the "Public Service Commissions" mandatory obligations is as follows.
- 2. "Incomplete Filings" "Petition for certificates that fail to comply with the requirements of these rules or that do not have attached to them the required supporting data will be docketed and assigned an identifying number, but the commission may decline to consider said petition or dismiss it, Sua Sponte, until compliance is achieved." The "Public Service Commission" does have the discretion to decline to consider or dismiss, (Rule 7). The Public Service Commission has not complied with either law.
- (A12) (a) "Cleary" stated in part "The district does not want to risk expanding its sewer service into an area that is not certificated." (Exhibit D3 pg. 2-Line 2,3). This sounds reasonable enough.
- (b) Line 7-8-9 state "Recently the District had trouble with an individual allowing "raw sewage" to run within a District water easement outside the sewer service area."

 Still reasonable enough except that this was not "raw sewage" or implying waste from the human bowels, but wastewater from a kitchen sink and clothes washing machine known as grey water, unacceptable but not as dangerous.

- (c) Lines 9-10 state "Because of reduced Department of Health personnel within the county, a timely response could not be obtained to force the remedy of this unsanitary situation." Still reasonable enough, except that other agencies should have been notified of this "unsanitary situation." Although the "Mississippi State Department of Health" has statutory authority in this area, the "Department of Environmental Quality", "Environmental Protection Agency" and the "United States Government" can act to protect the health of the public. No record that a complaint was filed with any of these agencies.
- (d) Lines 11-12-13 state "Cleary can afford and will commit to undertake construction of improvement which are necessary and economically feasible and consistent with good stewardship." This sentence is not reasonable enough due to the fact "Cleary" knew one (1) year before application they could not financially afford to, nor were they going to construct a new sewage treatment plant to furnish sewer service to this new area, thereby making a false statement and covering it when "economically feasible" and "consistent with good stewardship." (Exhibit (1) Info). Cleary used the words "economically feasible" in (Exhibit D2 Item 9) to minimize a promised statement in (Exhibit D2 Item 8). Can there be any question as to the lack of integrity in these statements?
- (A13) We the Petitioners respectfully submit they are not. The "Issues and Facts" in this appeal brief are focused on laws governing "Certificate Proceeding." We further respectfully submit these laws are unambiguous and are a mandatory requirement before an applicant is eligible for a certificate. We do further respectfully submit these laws are

not subject to dismissal at the discretion of the "Public Service Commission" or any other agency. These laws were made to protect the public from unscrupulous applicants who would use a certificate to force their will upon the innocent.

(A14) (a) The answer to question no. 14 can be answered by this statement made by "Cleary" which reads in part, "When contacted about the District's plans in relation to the expansion of the area certificated for wastewater services, the District Manager, Kenn Munn, explained the decentralized wastewater program to the personnel of the "Public Utilities Staff." At no time did the District or its personnel mislead the Commission or the M.P.U.S. in any way. (Exhibit - M12 - pg. 2-3). A further statement by the "Public Service Commission" stated in part, "Be it remembered that Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District filed its application, along with the required exhibits and documentation on June 13, 2000." Attorneys of record as being "James A. Bobo, Esquire" (Attorney for CWSFD). "Wm Bruce McKinley, Esquire" (Attorney for the MPSC. (Volume I - pg. 000109-110) in the appeal record. All of the above agencies plus the two attorneys knew that required documentation to be eligible for a certificate had not been met by "Cleary" and that "Cleary" had no intention of "constructing, operating and maintaining" a sewer system in the additional area. Unconcerned for the rights of the people of the district, best describes the action taken by the "Public Service Commission" in issuing "Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District" a certificate to "construct, operate and maintain a sewer system" in this new area. Knowing absolutely (a) That CWSFD had not furnished required documents to be eligible for a certificate. (b) The PSC did in fact issue CWSFD a certificate with impunity. (c) The PSC has not complied with laws pertaining to

incomplete filings (Rule 7 - F6) nor has the PSC acted to force CWSFD to comply with the order of the certificate which is to construct, operate and maintain a sewer system in this new area or revoke the certificate. The reason given for action not taken by the PSC is it's not in the best "public interest". We are the "public" and hereby state that the action not taken by the PSC is not in the best interest of the public but rather in the best interest of the Public Service Commission which in this case has failed miserably to support our rights under the Constitution.

CONCLUSION

We the petitioners respectfully submit the following.

The year 1990 was the last year the U.S. Census Bureau did a survey on the number of "Individual Onsite Wastewater Disposal Systems" in the State of Mississippi. That number was (425,239) housing units. The number of people served by these 10WDS was (910,574). Most of these homes are supplied "Potable Water" from (1367) "Public Water Suppliers", including "Cleary, Water and Sewer Fire District. All (3) parties will be affected by the decision of this court, none more so than these home owners.

These "Public Water Suppliers" will surely follow CWSFD's lead by taking ownership of the 10WDS in their district. The home owners will not be able to sell their homes or very little else, without the "Water Suppliers" permission. Plus, the homeowner will be charged a fee, determined by permission and a fee determined by the "Water Suppliers" to use the 10WDS. The only cost to the "Water Suppliers:" is for them to apply for a certificate, no matter what it's stated purpose is, pass an ordinance declaring ownership of the 10WDS. Presto, they have a ready made source of income, without strings attached.

The following are only some of the adverse effects the "Trial Courts" decision has upon the lives of these Mississippians in the leading up to and including the issuing purpose of a certificate to the CWSFD and to what purpose they are using this certificate. On August 12, 2004, we filed a formal complaint with the "Public Service Commission", which is quote "complaint to vacate order granting supplemental Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity." In this complaint we stated false statements were made to obtain that certificate, which is specific and is unambiguous in its purpose, that being to "construct, operate and maintain a Sewer System in a specified area of Rankin County." We presented only one of these false statements in this complaint. That being, CWSFD had not constructed this ordered sewer system 48 months after receiving this certificate. In fact, some 96 months later they still have not complied with this order. We have presented documented evidence to the PSC and the "Trial Court" proving Cleary has made many false statements to obtain the certificate they hold.