BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CC-01618

HAROLD GREEN

APPELLANT

v.

CLEARY WATER, SEWER AND FIRE DISTRICT

APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF THE DECISION BY THE MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

JAMES A. BOBO Mississippi Bar No.

AKERS & BOBO, PLLC 20 Eastgate Drive, Suite D (39042) Post Office Box 280 Brandon, Mississippi 39043-0280 Telephone:601-825-4566 Facsimile: 601-825-4588

Attorneys for Cleary Water, Sewer & Fire District

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal represents the last gasp in Green's quixotical attempt to avoid having his on-site wastewater treatment system inspected and, if necessary, repaired. In this appeal Green improperly seeks to avoid the matters he raised before the MPSC and instead seeks to raise issues for the first

ŝ,

¹² The Mississippi Legislature has specifically provided in §77-3-47, that the "commission may dismiss any complaint without a hearing if in its opinion a hearing is not necessary in the public interest or for the protection of substantial rights."

time, go outside the record and re-litigate those matters resolved against him in previous litigation with the District. See Green v. Cleary Water, Sewer & Fire Dist., 910 So.2d 1022 (Miss. 2005).¹³

At all times it should be remembered that it was Green who framed the issues before the MPSC with his pleadings. Ironically Green, having gone through three (3) lawyers, tries to recast the issues to make the MPSC look unprofessional and arbitrary. Green's pleadings were inadequate and were dealt with in the summary fashion which they deserved.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review to be employed when reviewing an administrative agency's decision is to determine whether the decision: (1) was supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the power of the lower authority to make; or (4) violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party. See Landmark Structures, Inc. v. City Council, 826 So.2d 746, 749 (Miss.2002) (citations omitted). "A rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the action of an administrative agency, and the burden of proof is on the party challenging an agency's action." Hill Bros. Const. & Engineering Co., Inc. v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 909 So.2d 58, 64 (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted).

ţ

.

۰.

¹³ It should be noted that the sole issues on remand in **Cleary v. Green**, concerns the alleged "taking" and whether the District's regulations are more restrictive than the regulations of the Mississippi State Department of Health. Green has not brought these issues forward on remand. The reason is that the matter is moot. The District long ago amended its Ordinance to do away with any requirements concerning property rights and instead now only requires that private on-site systems be annually inspected and repaired, if necessary. To the detriment of his neighbors and the safety of his community Green simply refuses to have his system inspected and repaired, if necessary.

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over the 2000 Decision.

In addition to seeking to re-litigate those issues resolved against him by the Mississippi Supreme Court, Green, in this appeal, improperly seeks to gain appellate review of a decision which the MPSC made on September 18, 2000, in Docket No. 2000-UA-491, to expand the area in which the District is the exclusive provider of sewer services.

In Green v. Cleary, the Mississippi Supreme Court expressly mentioned the fact that in "2000, Cleary obtained a supplemental certificate from the [Mississippi] Public Service Commission which enlarged the area in which it was authorized to provide its [sewer] services. Cleary sought to address a perceived problem of untreated or undertreated sewage being discharged onto the ground within the Cleary District by adopting the 'Decentralized Wastewater Use Ordinance' which plaintiffs Harold Green, et al. ... challenge here." 910 So.2d at 1025.

§77-3-67 mandates that "an appeal [of a commission order] must be filed within thirty (30) days after the entry of the commission's order." ¹⁴ No where in the record does Green deny notice of the public hearing before the MPSC on the District's 2000 application to enlarge its certificated area. No where in the record does Green deny actual notice of the 2000 actions of the MPSC. Yet years later Green seeks to have these actions reviewed on appeal in 2006.

§77-3-67 is mandatory and jurisdictional. In Moore v. Sanders, 569 So.2d 1148 (Miss. 1990), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Furthermore, it has long been the law of this state that statutes limiting the time within which appeals may be taken are both mandatory and jurisdictional. An appeal

.

¹⁴ Green initiated his other litigation on August 23, 2002. Green v. Cleary, 910 So.2d 1022, 1025 (Miss. 2005).

not perfected with the time prescribed by statute confers no jurisdiction on the appellate court. Such an appeal should be dismissed either on the motion of the appellee or by the appellate court of its own motion.... (Citation omitted).

569 So.2d at 1149.¹⁵ If an untimely appeal is made, then any action other than dismissal is "extrajurisdictional and void." **South Cent. Turf, Inc. v. City of Jackson**, 526 So.2d 558, 563 (Miss. 1988).¹⁶

B. Green Lacks Standing.

1. Green Can Not Prosecute Criminal Charges Before The Mississippi Public Service Commission Or Any Other Body.

In his "Complaint" Green inarticulately references §77-1-35 and §77-3-81 and makes the

outlandish and unsupported allegation that 'false statements were made by persons representing

Cleary...." The MPSC has no authority to convict anyone of an alleged criminal offense. See

Brotherhood of R. R. Trainmen v. Illinois Cent. R. Co., 243 Miss. 851, 138 So.2d 908, 910

(Miss. 1962). Moreover Green does not possess an office or status which allows him to prosecute

criminal charges before the MPSC or any other body.

į.

i,

2. Green Lacked Standing To Raise Any Issues Concerning The 2000 Order.

The Mississippi Legislature has expressly limited the persons who have standing to invoke

¹⁵ See also University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling, 2006 WL 871302, *5 (Miss. 2006) (The Courts have a "constitutional mandate to faithfully apply the provisions of constitutionally enacted legislation.").

¹⁶ Moreover Green was not a party to the 2000 proceedings before the MPSC. In Appeal of Public Service Com'n, 604 So.2d 218 (Miss. 1992), persons who were not a party to a proceeding before the MPSC sought to appeal the Commission's actions to chancery court pursuant to §77-3-67. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that the chancery court did not have jurisdiction over the claims of these non-parties. The Court stated that "the chancery court had no jurisdiction of this matter and its, apparently routine, finding to the contrary is manifest error." 604 So.2d at 222.

§77-3-67 to appeal a decision of the MPSC. In **Appeal of Public Service Com'n**., the Mississippi Supreme Court noted:

The statute lodging appellate authority in the chancery court provides that "any party aggrieved by any final finding" of the [M]PSC shall have the right of appeal to that court. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-67 (1991). We have distinguished statutes allowing a right of appeal to aggrieved "parties" from those allowing appeal to aggrieved "persons" (see e.g., Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 (1991) providing for appeals from decisions of boards of supervisors or municipal authorities). We have held that "statutes which allow a 'party' to appeal, as a rule, limit the right to those who were original parties to the action or proceeding." (Citation omitted). Appellees, then, never acquired standing to take an appeal.

604 So.2d at 222.

In the present case Green seeks to appeal the 2000 decision of the MPSC. Because Green was not a party to the 2000 action he lacks standing to appeal the 2000 decision.¹⁷

3. Green Lacked Standing To Assert A Complaint In 2004.

As noted by the MPSC in its ruling, Rule 11B(1) of the Commission's Rules on Practice and Procedure required that Green "must affirmatively show that ... [he] has a direct and substantial interest in the subject matter of the Complaint...." Green's Complaint does recite that he is a resident of the District but wholly fails to allege any other status, injury or harm or to present any justiciable claim or substantial interest. Green did not seek leave to amend to allege any other status, injury or harm or to present any justiciable claim or substantial interest.

Green did not allege that he was not receiving service. In fact when connection to the District's centralized sewage treatment plant was offered to Green he did not even respond. Green

¹⁷ See also Davis v. Attorney General, 935 So.2d 856, 863-864 (Miss. 2006) ("Under Mississippi law, res judicata or collateral estoppel precludes re-litigation of administrative decisions.'... [citations omitted].... '[o]nce an agency decision is made and the decision remains un-appealed beyond the time to appeal, [re-litigation] is barred by administrative res judicata or collateral estoppel.'" (citations omitted)).

did not allege inadequate service. In fact until the Chancery Court, in the previous litigation that resulted in **Green v. Cleary**, 910 So.2d 1022, 1025 (Miss. 2005), threw out his unfounded claims, he had obtained an injunction which prevented the District from providing him with service under the Decentralized Wastewater Use Ordinance.

Thus to the MPSC, it was clear from the materials on file that Green was not interested in obtaining any wastewater service from the District. Nor was he claiming that any service provided by the District was inadequate.¹⁸ In addition his pending lawsuit against the District made it obvious that he was just trying to continue his unregulated discharge of wastewater into the District's groundwater free of modest governmental regulation requiring him to have his system inspected and repaired, if necessary.

In part, Green's lack of standing is rooted in the role of the MPSC in relation to the District. The MPSC has jurisdiction over whether a district is the exclusive utility provider in a defined area. However, the MSPC has little if any jurisdiction over other operational issues such as the rates and charges of a district, §19-5-177 or, as discussed below the equipment and methods by which the District provides services.¹⁹ It is in its role as rate maker that the MPSC becomes concerned about the capital improvements employed by a certificate holder. **Mississippi Public Service Com'n v. Dixie Land & Water Co., Inc.,** 707 So.2d 1086, 1090 (Miss. 1998). In addition it should be noted

¹⁸§77-3-11(5) provides that upon "complaints filed by not less than ten percent (10%) of the total subscribers or three thousand five hundred (3,500) subscribers of a public utility, whichever is less, then the commission shall hold a hearing on the adequacy of service as contemplated in Section 77-3-21." Simply put, if Green was attempting to assert a claim for inadequate service, he did not have standing to assert such a claim.

¹⁹ See infra n. 23.

that the Mississippi Supreme Court has expressly forbade the MPSC to consider "quality of service"

when the MPSC is exercising its role in establishing rates for non-district certificate holders. Id. at

1092. The Dixie Land Court made this distinction absolute:

No where in this explanation [of the standards for establishing rates] does the Court address the issue of adequacy of service. The authority for addressing the issue of service for a public utility is found in an unrelated statute of the Mississippi Code of 1972. See Miss. Code Ann. §77-3-21 (Supp. 1997). However, this statute specifically states, "Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to include service for water and sewage." Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-21 (Supp.1997). In 1995, the Mississippi Legislature, pursuant to section 77-3-22 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, provided a way that the MPSC could, upon the finding of inadequate service, petition the chancery court to attach the assets of the privately owned water or sewer utility and place it under the sole control of a receiver. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-22 (Supp.1997). The MPSC seems to be confusing the issue of adequate service with the rate increase issue. Each issue is considered apart from the other and the quality of service being provided should not influence the decision to either grant or deny a rate increase.

Id.20

i.

C. Green May Not Attempt To Establish Error Based Upon Claims Never Submitted To The Commission.

Green now argues matters not set forth in his three (3) paragraph Complaint or this proposed

amendment. These are claims and issues which were never asserted by Green before the MPSC and

he can not raise them for the first time on appeal. See Tedder v. Board of Sup'rs of Bolivar

County, 214 Miss. 717, 59 So.2d 329, 331 (1952).

D. Green's Failure To Cite Authority Bars His Claims.

In Entergy Mississippi, Inc. v. Bolden, 854 So.2d 1051 (Miss. 2003), the Court noted:

²⁰ This regulatory scheme wherein the MPSC is not to be concerned with the details of sewer plants, facilities and processes employed, outside of issues of establishing reasonable rate, is obviously a recognition that the such details are fully reviewed and highly regulated by the Federal Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality ("MDEQ") and the Mississippi State Department of Health (MSDH"). See infra n. 23.

¶ 18. We have consistently held that "an argument unsupported by cited authority need not be considered by the Court." *Dowdle Butane Gas Co. v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 1124, 1136 (Miss.2002). In addition, we have expressly held that "[i]t is the duty of an appellant to provide authority in support of an assignment of error." *Jones v. Howell*, 827 So.2d 691, 702 (Miss.2002). Where an assertion of error is not supported by authority, that assertion is deemed abandoned. Id. This Court is therefore procedurally barred from considering unsupported assertions on appeal. *Webb v. DeSoto County*, 843 So.2d 682, 685 (Miss.2003).

Entergy Mississippi, Inc. v. Bolden 854 So.2d 1051, 1057 (Miss. 2003).

E. The Mississippi Public Service Commission May Refuse To Allow Futile Amendments To Pleading.

§77-3-47 provides: "Notice of all such hearings shall be given the persons interested therein by mailing such notice to each public utility which may be affected by any order resulting therefrom and by publication in a newspaper of general circulation published in Jackson, Mississippi, and, in a proceeding for a facility certificate or an area certificate, by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties where the facility or area is located." The MPSC held that the notice statute did not require that a notice contain information which Green wanted to make the focal point of his proposed amended complaint. As noted by the MPSC in its Order dated February 23, 2005, Green sought to amend his Complaint to assert that the notice of hearing published in relation to the expansion of Cleary's area certificated for sewage services "did not advise 'of the intentions of Cleary to attempt to create a decentralized sewer system.' In other words, [Green] contends that Cleary was required to give notice of the type or kind of sewer treatment facility it was going to use."²¹ As further noted by the MPSC, the law simply does not require that a certificate seeker give notice of the type of process, facilities or equipment which will be used to collect and treat sewage.

²¹ By publication, Green was given notice that Cleary Water, Sewer and Fire District had asked the MPSC to enlarge Cleary's "Certificated Area for sewer service to make said area identical to its Certificated Area for Water and Fire Protection."

See MPSC Order Denying Leave To Amend.

. V

i .

Imagine the chaos which would ensue if one (1) disgruntled customer could, years after MPSC approval, seek to vacate every certificate approved and issued by the MPSC, based upon the allegation that in the original notice concerning the certificated area, the service provider failed to disclose which technical processes, chemicals, equipment or facilities the providers were planning to utilize to transmit voice and data, or produce and distribute electricity, or produce and distribute natural gas or produce and distribute water or to collect and process sewage. Imagine still the wasted money and effort which would occur if the MPSC had to process Complaints and conduct full blown hearings each time one (1) disgruntled customer alleged that a notice published years ago in relation to a certificate (approved long ago) did not adequately disclose the technical processes, equipment or facilities the providers were planning on using and implementing in their certificated areas.²²

Basically Green failed, and continues to fail, to comprehend the nature of the proceedings conducted by the MPSC in 2000 with reference to the expansion of Cleary's certificated areas. The issue – expressly set forth in the notice – was whether Cleary should be issued the expanded certificate. The issue was not what technology, processes, facilities or equipment which Cleary would bring to bear in providing service. These issues are the providence of other regulatory agencies such as the EPA, MDEQ and the MSDH.²³

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